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DECISION


Julie Taylor is subject to discipline because she attempted to steal oxycodone, a controlled substance, from her patient and then lied about it to her supervisors.
Procedure


On September 11, 2007, the State Board of Nursing (“the Board”) filed a complaint seeking to discipline Taylor.  On January 31, 2008, Taylor was served by personal service with a copy of the complaint, our notice of complaint/notice of hearing, and a copy of our order dated December 4, 2007.  On April 24, 2008, we held a hearing on the complaint.  Assistant Attorney General Rex Patrick Fennessey represented the Board.  Taylor represented herself.  The matter became ready for our decision on July 29, 2008, the date the last brief was filed.

Findings of Fact

1. Taylor is licensed by the Board as a registered professional nurse (“RN”).  Taylor’s Missouri license is now and was at all relevant times current and active.
2. From November 2003 until August 2004, Taylor was employed as an RN at Comfort Care Home Health Agency, Inc. (“Comfort Care”) in Doniphan, Missouri.  Georgia Hall is an LPN who acts as an administrator at Comfort Care.  Hall’s daughter, Kimberlin Crockett, is the Director of Nursing.  They are co-owners of the business.
3. In August 2004, L.S. contracted with Comfort Care to provide in-home, post-surgery care for her.  L.S. had been diagnosed with cancer.
4. On August 20, 2004, Taylor was sent by Comfort Care to L.S.’s home to admit and treat L.S. (“the visit”).  Taylor told L.S. that the admittance process included documenting all the medication that L.S. was taking.  Taylor asked for all of her medication.
5. During the visit, L.S.’s husband returned from the pharmacy, having filled L.S.’s prescription for oxycodone.  
6. Oxycodone is a Schedule II controlled substance.
  Taylor did not have a valid prescription for oxycodone.
7. Taylor asked to see the bottle of oxycodone tablets, and L.S. gave it to her.  Taylor then handed L.S. a stack of forms and requested that L.S. search through them for a specific document.  L.S. could not find that document.
8. Taylor removed the lid of L.S.’s bottle of oxycodone and took one pill out and looked at it.  Taylor wrote something on a piece of paper.
9. Taylor did not properly place the lid on the bottle of oxycodone.  Holding the bottle in her left hand, which was at her side, she used her thumb to take the cap off of the bottle. She tilted her wrist and tipped oxycodone tablets into her left hand.
10. Taylor then took the pill bottle in her right hand and moved her left hand toward her pants pocket.
11. L.B., L.S.’s sister, observed Taylor’s attempt to steal L.S.’s oxycodone and confronted Taylor as to why she had removed the tablets from L.S.’s bottle.
12. Taylor initially denied having removed any pills from L.S.’s oxycodone bottle.
13. L.B. asked for her sister’s medication, and Taylor handed her the pill bottle.  L.B. continued to ask Taylor to open her hand and continued to assert that Taylor had taken the medication.  Taylor opened her hand to reveal eight tablets and gave the tablets to L.B.  L.S.’s husband counted the pills in the bottle.  There were only 52 pills in the bottle when there was supposed to be 60.
14. Immediately following the visit, L.B. called Hall and described the incident.  A few minutes after the phone call, Taylor returned to the Comfort Care office, but did not approach Hall to tell her about the visit.  Hall called Crockett to come into the office, and Crockett arrived about 15 minutes later.
15. Hall and Crockett called Taylor into Hall’s office and asked her about the visit.  Taylor stated that she did not have any oxycodone tablets in her hand and that L.B. had not asked her to open her hand.  Taylor said that the pills had spilled beside the chair.
16. Hall and Crockett asked Taylor to write down her version of the visit, then sent her home.
17. Hall and Crockett visited L.S. at her home and talked to L.S., her sister, and her husband, who were consistent in their stories that Taylor had the medication in her hand.  Crockett sat where L.B. had been sitting, and L.B. demonstrated what she had seen Taylor do.  From her position, Crockett could see what L.B. did – what L.B. claimed that Taylor had done.
18. Taylor was terminated from Comfort Care by telephone.  Hall and Crockett did not request the written statement that they had asked Taylor to create, and Taylor did not provide it to them.
19. Taylor applied for unemployment benefits.  She was disqualified because she was discharged for misconduct connected with work.  The Missouri Division of Employment Security Appeals Tribunal (“DES”) reversed this decision finding that there was no competent and substantial evidence that Taylor attempted to steal the medication.

Conclusions of Law 


We have jurisdiction to hear this case.
  The Board has the burden of proving by a preponderance of the credible evidence that Taylor has committed an act for which the law allows discipline.
  “Preponderance of the evidence is that which is of greater weight or more convincing than the evidence which is offered in opposition to it; that is, evidence which as a whole shows the fact to be proved to be more probable than not.”
  The Board meets this burden by substantial evidence of probative value or by inferences reasonably drawn from the evidence.
  
I.  Motion to Seal


Pursuant to a motion made at the hearing, we sealed a portion of Petitioner’s Exhibit 3 because those pages contain protected health information.  Under 45 C.F.R. § 164.502(a) and 
§ 610.021(14), we ordered pages 1-13 and 15-21 sealed.
   We note that L.S.’s name also appears on page 14, and we place that page under seal.

II.  Credibility

This Commission must judge the credibility of witnesses, and we have the discretion to believe all, part, or none of the testimony of any witness.
  When there is a direct conflict in the testimony, we must make a choice between the conflicting testimony.


Taylor argues that the Board presented no drug screen or police report concerning the incident.  We agree with the Board that neither of these is necessary to prove its case.  The Board presented the testimony of L.B., Hall and Crockett.  All three of the witnesses’ statements are in conflict with Taylor’s testimony.  Although both L.S. and her husband were dead at the time of the hearing, their statements in the Board’s investigative file also support L.B.’s testimony and are in conflict with Taylor’s story.  Although these statements are hearsay, Taylor did not object.  Where no objection is made, hearsay evidence in the records can and must be considered in administrative hearings.
  Our Findings of Fact reflect our credibility decisions.
III.  DES’s Decision

A.  Collateral Estoppel/Issue Preclusion

Taylor points to the DES’s decision that there was insufficient evidence that she attempted to steal the oxycodone.  To the extent that Taylor is arguing issue preclusion, we consider whether the Board is prohibited from relitigating the fact.

Collateral estoppel prevents a party from relitigating issues of ultimate facts, but only those “necessarily and unambiguously decided.”
  The doctrine applies if:  (1) the issue decided in the earlier action is identical to the issue presented in the present action; (2) the earlier action was decided on the merits; (3) the party to be precluded was a party, or is in privity with a party, to the earlier action; and (4) the party to be precluded had a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issue.


We agree with the Board that it was not a party to the DES action or in privity with a party.  Thus, the Board did not have a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issue in the DES action and is not precluded from presenting evidence and argument in this licensing case.

B.  Res Judicata/Claim Preclusion

Res judicata is designed to prevent a party from relitigating a claim after an adverse verdict on the same claim.
  It applies where, between the earlier and later actions, there is identity of (1) the thing sued for; (2) the cause of action; (3) the parties; and (4) the capacity of the person for whom the claim is made.


None of these elements has been shown in this case.  Taylor’s attempt to receive unemployment compensation is different than the Board’s attempt to discipline her professional license.  Again, the Board was not a party to the prior action.  The Board is not precluded by res judicata from pursuing this case.
IV.  Cause for Discipline


The Board argues that there is cause for discipline under § 335.066:
2.  The board may cause a complaint to be filed with the administrative hearing commission as provided by chapter 621, RSMo against any holder of any certificate of registration or authority, permit or license required by sections 335.011 to 335.096 or any person who has failed to renew or has surrendered his or her certificate of registration or authority, permit or license for any one or any combination of the following causes:

(1) Use or unlawful possession of any controlled substance, as defined in Chapter 195, RSMo, or alcoholic beverage to an extent that such use impairs a person’s ability to perform the work of any profession licensed or regulated by section 335.011 to 335.096;
*   *   *
(5) Incompetency, misconduct, gross negligence, fraud, misrepresentation or dishonesty in the performance of the functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated by sections 335.011 to 335.096;
*   *   *
(12) Violation of any professional trust or confidence;
*   *   *
(14) Violation of the drug laws or rules and regulations of this state, any other state, or the federal government[.]
A.  Subdivisions (1) and (14) – Unlawful Possession/Violation of Drug Law


Section 195.202.1
 states:

Except as authorized by sections 195.005 to 195.425, it is unlawful for any person to possess or have under his control a controlled substance.

Taylor possessed L.S.’s oxycodone when she attempted to steal it from L.S.  Taylor did not have a prescription for oxycodone.  Her possession violated a drug law.


Taylor’s unlawful possession of a controlled substance is cause for discipline under 
§ 335.066.2(1).
  Her possession of a controlled substance without a prescription violated 
§ 195.202.1, a drug law, and is cause for discipline under § 335.066.2(14).
B.  Subdivision (5) – Functions of Profession


When referring to an occupation, incompetence relates to the failure to use “the actual ability of a person to perform in that occupation.”
  It also refers to a general lack of, or a lack of 
disposition to use, a professional ability.
  Misconduct means “the willful doing of an act with a wrongful intention[;] intentional wrongdoing.”
  Gross negligence is a deviation from professional standards so egregious that it demonstrates a conscious indifference to a professional duty.
 

Fraud is an intentional perversion of truth to induce another, in reliance on it, to part with some valuable thing belonging to him.
  It necessarily includes dishonesty, which is a lack of integrity or a disposition to defraud or deceive.
  Misrepresentation is a falsehood or untruth made with the intent and purpose of deceit.
  

1.  Stealing Medication


The Board argues that Taylor’s intentional diversion and attempted removal of L.S.’s medication constitutes incompetence and misconduct in the performance of a professional function or duty.  We agree that the conduct constitutes misconduct.

While we normally do not find that one instance of negligence or misconduct constitutes incompetence, we have found that one instance of endangering the welfare of two children by withholding food and medicine was incompetence.
  We recognize the serious nature of attempting to steal pain medication from a patient recovering from cancer surgery and find that this evidences incompetence.  We find cause for discipline under § 335.066.2(5).
2.  Failure to Report


The Board argues that Taylor’s concealment of her attempt to divert oxycodone constitutes misrepresentation and dishonesty in the performance of a professional function or 

duty.  The Board bases this allegation on Taylor’s failure to immediately report the incident to Hall when Taylor arrived at Comfort Care.  Taylor testified that Hall’s office door was closed and that she was told that someone was in the office.  Taylor stated that she was taking care of another matter and then was called into the office by Hall and Crockett.

Although Hall testified that she expected Taylor to report the incident immediately, and Crockett testified that this is what she would have done if falsely accused, there is insufficient evidence for us to find that Taylor’s conduct in failing to immediately report the incident is cause for discipline under § 335.066.2(5).
3.  False Report


The Board argues that Taylor’s failure to give an honest account of the events in L.S.’s home constitutes dishonesty, misrepresentation, and fraud in the performance of a professional function or duty.  When questioned by Hall and Crockett, Taylor lied about the incident, stating that the pills spilled out of the bottle, that she never had the pills in her hand, and that L.B. had never asked her to open her hand and return the pills.  This constitutes dishonesty, misrepresentation and fraud.  There is cause for discipline under § 335.066.2(5).
C.  Subdivision (12) – Professional Trust


Professional trust is the reliance on the special knowledge and skills that professional licensure evidences.
  It may exist not only between the professional and his clients, but also between the professional and his employer and colleagues.
  

We find that Taylor’s diversion and attempted removal of L.S.’s medication constitutes a violation of L.S.’s and Comfort Care’s professional trust and confidence in Taylor.  There is cause for discipline under § 335.066.2(12).
Summary

There is cause for discipline under § 335.066.2(1), (5), (12), and (14).

SO ORDERED on September 18, 2008.
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JOHN J. KOPP
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